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DECISION


We grant John S. Hauk’s application for licensure as a tattooist. 

Procedure
On May 10, 2011, Hauk filed a complaint to appeal the denial of his application for licensure as a tattooist by the Office of Tattooing, Body Piercing and Branding (“the Office”).  The Office filed an answer on June 24, 2011.  

We held a hearing on August 11, 2011.  Hauk represented himself.  Assistant Attorney General Nathan M. Priestaf represented the Office.  Hauk filed a brief on October 20, 2011.  The Office filed a brief on October 24, 2011, when the case became ready for our decision.
Findings of Fact

1. From 1992 until 2004, Hauk was a drug dealer and user.

1993 Wyandotte County, Kansas conviction for

attempted sale of marijuana and possession of marijuana

2. On February 18, 1992, under cause number 92CR0304, Hauk was charged in the District Court of Wyandotte County, Kansas with two counts of attempted sale of marijuana and one count of possession of marijuana in violation of K.S.A. §§ 65-4105(d)(15) and 65-4127b(b)(3).
3. On December 18, 1992, Hauk pled guilty to all three of the above-stated counts.
4. On February 12, 1993, Hauk was sentenced to one to five years’ imprisonment for each of the attempted sale counts, and a year’s imprisonment in county jail for the possession count, all sentences to be served concurrently.
1993 Johnson County, Kansas conviction for

possession of marijuana
5. On September 2, 1992, in cause number K-72426 of the District Court of Johnson County, Kansas, Hauk was charged with possession of marijuana in violation of K.S.A. §§ 65-4105(d)(16), 65-4127b, and 21-4502(1)(a).
6. On February 24, 1993, Hauk pled guilty to the possession charge.
7. On April 1, 1993, Hauk was sentenced to one year’s imprisonment in the Johnson County Jail, said sentence to be served consecutively to the Wyandotte County Jail sentence.
1993 Johnson County, Kansas conviction for 
sale of marijuana
8. On September 23, 1992, in cause number K-72625 of the District Court of Johnson County, Kansas,  Hauk was charged with two counts of sale of marijuana in violation of K.S.A. §§ 65-4105(d)(15), 65-4127b(b)(13), and 21-4501(c).  
9. On February 24, 1993, Hauk pled guilty to one of the above-referenced counts, and the other count was dismissed.
10. On April 1, 1993, Hauk was sentenced to three to ten years’ imprisonment, said sentence to run consecutively to the sentences in causes 92CR0304 and K-72426.
1994 Harris County, Texas conviction for 
possession of between five and fifty pounds of marihuana

11. On April 10, 1994, Hauk was arrested in Harris County, Texas, for the offense of possession of between five and fifty pounds of marihuana, in violation of Tex. Health & Safety Code § 481.121 (1992).
12. On August 11, 1994, in cause number 9408585, in the 185th District Court of Harris County, Texas, Hauk pled guilty to the above-referenced offense.  He was sentenced to eight years’ imprisonment.
2000 Douglas County, Kansas conviction for battery
13. On October 3, 1999, in cause number 1999-CR-1472, in the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas, an amended complaint was issued by an assistant district attorney of Douglas County, Kansas, charging Hauk with misdemeanor battery in violation of K.S.A. § 21-3142(a)(2).
14. On February 22, 2000, Hauk pled guilty to the above-referenced offense.  He was sentenced to six months’ imprisonment in the Douglas County Jail.
2004 federal conviction for
 possession of cocaine with intent to distribute
15. On May 28, 2003, in cause number 2:03CR20066-001, a grand jury in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas indicted Hauk for two counts of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(A)(iii).
16. On March 1, 2004, Hauk was convicted of one of the two above-referenced counts.  On remand, Hauk was resentenced on February 6, 2006 to a term of 105 months’ imprisonment.  He was also sentenced to four years’ supervised release upon his release from imprisonment.
17. On August 6, 2010, Hauk was released from prison for the above-referenced offense.
Hauk’s training and apprenticeship as a tattooist
18. Hauk received training in tattooing through the Missouri Vocational Rehabilitation Program.
19. Hauk had worked as an apprentice under John Burke since approximately August 2010.
Hauk’s rehabilitation

20. Hauk understands, follows, and appreciates the regulations governing licensed tattooists.

21. Hauk had stayed clean, i.e., abstained from using illegal drugs, since his release from prison in 2010.

22. Hauk showed up for work every day at his apprentice tattooist job, and has stayed on the job longer than others who have held that job under Burke.

23. Hauk has adopted a new moral code that includes working to overcome drug addiction, avoiding people he used to know, embracing a strong work ethic, and observing and complying with the law.

Sealing of Court Records that Recite Juvenile Adjudications
The court records for Hauk’s federal conviction for possession with intent to distribute more than 500 grams or more of cocaine set out Hauk’s juvenile adjudications.  The Office did not rely on these adjudications in making its case and, given this State’s general public policy 
against disclosing the contents of such records (as expressed in § 211.271.3), and in accordance with § 610.021(14),
 we seal the Office’s Exhibit 6 on our own motion.

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear Hauk’s complaint.
  The applicant has the burden to show that he is entitled to licensure.
  This Commission must judge the credibility of witnesses, and we have the discretion to believe all, part, or none of the testimony of any witness.
  We decide the issue that was before the Office,
 which is the application.  We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the Office.
  Therefore, we simply decide the application anew.
  When an applicant for licensure files a complaint, the agency’s answer provides notice of the grounds for denial of the application.
  

I. Hauk’s Credibility and the Effect of His Prior Convictions

A convicted felon like Hauk faces significant credibility hurdles in a proceeding such as this one, no matter the extent of his subsequent efforts to rehabilitate himself.  The Legislature recognized this when it enacted § 314.200
 and § 324.029, which provide, respectively:
No board or other agency created pursuant to laws of the state of Missouri, or by any city, county or other political subdivision of the state, for the purpose of licensing applicants for occupations and professions may deny a license to an applicant primarily upon the basis that a felony or misdemeanor conviction of the applicant precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character, where the conviction resulted in the applicant's incarceration and the applicant has been released by pardon, parole or otherwise from such incarceration, or resulted in the applicant being placed on probation and there is no evidence the applicant has violated the 
conditions of his probation. The board or other agency may consider the conviction as some evidence of an absence of good moral character, but shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the applicant seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant's character.

* * *

Except as otherwise specifically provided by law, no license for any occupation or profession shall be denied solely on the grounds that an applicant has been previously convicted of a felony.

In this case, however, the Board skirts dangerously close to doing exactly what the legislature forbade it to do—deny Hauk a license solely (or primarily) because he had prior convictions.


Since our task is to decide the issue that was before the Office, we follow the statutes and consider Hauk’s convictions and related information (the nature of the convictions, their frequency, and their remoteness in time) as part of our evaluation.  That evaluation also, necessarily, includes an observation of Hauk’s testimony at the hearing.  Hauk did not come across as glibly articulate, but we found him to be candid and sincere about both his criminal past and his desire to turn his life around.  We found him to be a credible witness because of that candor.
II.  The Office’s Grounds for Denial of Hauk’s Tattooist License

The Office’s argument at the hearing centered on Hauk’s criminal history, which it set out in detail through its exhibits and by eliciting admissions from Hauk as to their accuracy.  To quote from the hearing, it “want[ed] to make sure that [Hauk] was a law-abiding citizen[.]”
  The Office’s choice of verb is telling—Hauk, the Office argues, must prove that he was a law-abiding citizen, not that he is one now, or was one at the time of the hearing.  Further, the law-abiding citizen “requirement” for licensure, while salutary, is not found in the statutes.  The line 
between a “public threat” and licensure must be drawn based on a reasonable relationship between an applicant’s crimes and the license applied for.  Here, the Office seeks to deny licensure on the basis of Hauk’s crimes, with no consideration as to whether those crimes bear any relationship to the professional license Hauk seeks.  Further, the Office’s argument conflicts with §§ 314.200 and 324.029, which we set out above.

The Office’s brief, however, argues that there is cause for denial of Hauk’s tattooist license under § 324.523.1(2), which states:

1.  The division may refuse to issue or cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required under sections 324.520 to 324.526, or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit, or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *

(2)  Final adjudication and finding of guilt, or the entrance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of any profession that is licensed or regulated under sections 324.520 to 324.526, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]
The statute is written such that licensure can be denied for any of the three stated grounds: 

1. any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of any profession that is licensed or regulated under sections 324.520 to 324.526, and the regulations promulgated thereunder;

2. any offense for which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence; or
3. any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed.

(Emphasis added.)  Such is the statute’s plain and ordinary meaning, and the primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the legislature from the language it used, to 
give effect to that intent if possible, and to consider words in the statute in that plain and ordinary meaning.
  We look at each statutory ground here.
Whether there is a reasonable relationship of Hauk’s crimes to the 

qualifications, functions, or duties of a tattoo artist

Hauk asserts that his prior crimes have little if any relevance to being a tattooist.  As he stated in his brief, “[U]nless I had convictions for something like serial tattooing abuse or something, one would have to question the relevance of prior convictions in this matter.”  We would not go that far, given that “reasonable relation” has been determined by this Commission to be a low threshold.  To relate is to have a logical connection.
  This Commission has, in the recent past, found such a logical connection in such seemingly unrelated matters as: a conviction for theft and licensure as an emergency medical technician (“EMT”);
 unauthorized sale of military property and an EMT license;
 forgery and discipline of a nursing license;
 and domestic assault and discipline of a nursing license.
  

The Office, however, makes no attempt to argue the existence of a reasonable relation between Hauk’s offenses and licensure as a tattoo artist.  Instead, its position is summed up in the title to a portion of its brief, which reads: “It is Irrelevant and Contrary to the Plain Text of 
§ 324.523.1 RSMo, Whether Crimes of Moral Turpitude are Related to the Practice of Tattooing.”  Again, we would not go that far (nor would we conflate the reasonable relation and moral turpitude standards of § 324.523.1 the way the Office did), but that title is consistent with the Office’s litigation strategy of not arguing this issue, so we consider the issue moot.
Whether fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence

were essential elements of Hauk’s offenses

Here, we look at each offense for which Hauk was convicted and determine, from both the words of the statute defining the offense and the nature of the offense, whether fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence was an essential element of that offense.  “Fraud” is defined as an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  “Dishonesty” is defined as a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
   “Integrity” is defined in relevant part as: “firm adherence to a code of especially moral or artistic values: INCORRUPTIBILITY.”
  “Violence” is defined as: 

1a : exertion of physical force so as to injure or abuse (as in warfare effecting illegal entry into a house) b : an instance of violent treatment or procedure 2: injury by or as if by distortion, infringement, or profanation : outrage  3a : intense, turbulent, or furious and often destructive action or force <the violence of the storm> b : vehement feeling or expression : fervor; also : an instance of such action or feeling c : a clashing or jarring quality : discordance….

To determine whether fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence are essential elements of the offenses in question, we must set out and examine the language of each statutory offense.

Convictions for sale, attempted sale, or possession of a large quantity of marijuana

Hauk’s convictions for sale, attempted sale, or possession of a large quantity of marijuana were based on the following statutes:
A. K.S.A. § 65-4127b(b)(3), which read as follows at the time of the offense:

(b) Except as authorized by the uniform controlled substances act, it shall be unlawful for any person to sell, offer for sale or have in such person's possession with the intent to sell, cultivate, prescribe, administer, deliver, distribute, dispense or compound:

* * *

(3) any hallucinogenic drug designated in subsection (d) of K.S.A. 65-4105, and amendments thereto…;

* * *

Any person who violates this subsection shall be guilty of a class C felony.

B.  Tex. Health & Safety Code § 481.121, which read as follows at the time of the offense:

(a) Except as authorized by this chapter, a person commits an offense if the person knowingly or intentionally possesses a usable quantity of marihuana.

(b) An offense under Subsection (a) is:

* * *

(4) a felony of the second degree if the amount of marihuana possessed is 50 pounds or less but more than 5 pounds.

C.  21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B)(ii), which read as follows at the time of the offense:
(a) Unlawful acts

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally—

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance;

* * *

(b) Penalties

Except as otherwise provided in section 859, 860, or 861 of this title, any person who violates subsection (a) of this section shall be sentenced as follows:

(1)(B) In the case of a violation of subsection (a) of this section involving—

* * *
(ii) 500 grams or more of a mixture or substance containing a detectable amount of—

* * *

(II) cocaine, its salts, optical and geometric isomers, and salts of isomers;

* * *

such person shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment which may not be less than 5 years and not more than 40 years….
We find neither fraud, dishonesty, nor violence in these offenses.
Convictions for possession of marijuana

Hauk’s convictions for possession of marijuana were based on K.S.A. § 65-4127b(a)(3), which read as follows at the time of the offenses:

 (a) Except as authorized by the uniform controlled substances act, it shall be unlawful for any person to possess or have under such person's control:

* * *

(3) any hallucinogenic drug designated in subsection (d) of K.S.A. 65-4105[
] and amendments thereto…;

* * *

Except as otherwise provided, any person who violates this subsection shall be guilty of a class A misdemeanor. If any person has a prior conviction under this section or a conviction for a substantially similar offense from another jurisdiction, then such person shall be guilty of a class D felony.


Just as we find that neither fraud, dishonesty, nor violence are essential elements of selling or attempting to sell controlled substances, neither do we find that those factors are essential elements of the crime of possessing marijuana.  We also do not find that marijuana 
possession, by itself, evidences a lack of integrity, so dishonesty is not an essential element of K.S.A. § 65-4127b(a)(3).

Conviction for battery

Hauk was convicted of misdemeanor battery in violation of K.S.A. § 21-3412(a)(2).  At all relevant times, K.S.A. § 21-3412(a)(2) read as follows:

(a) Battery is:

* * *

(2) intentionally causing physical contact with another person when done in a rude, insulting or angry manner.
We think that “intentionally causing physical contact with another person when done in a rude, insulting or angry manner” could be done without committing a violent act.  Therefore, an act of violence is not an essential element of the Kansas battery statute.
Whether Hauk’s offenses involved moral turpitude


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);
(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.

Drug-related crimes

Brehe notes that “Missouri courts have invariably found moral turpitude in violations of narcotics laws.”
  Further, we have no problem in finding Hauk’s offenses for drug sales, attempted sales, or possession of a large quantity of drugs to be Category I crimes, necessarily involving moral turpitude.  

As to the misdemeanor possession offenses, however, we cannot classify them as Category 1 crimes, but neither can we equate them with illegal parking.  In such a case, Brehe charges us with considering the related factual circumstances of the offense.
  The problem with such a consideration in this case, however, is that there are essentially no factual circumstances presented for us to consider in either case.  Therefore, we cannot find the offenses to involve moral turpitude.
Battery


Brehe further noted that sexual assault and deviate sexual assault are Category 1 crimes, but goes on to note Bowalick v. Commonwealth,
 where the court held that simple assault
 was 
not necessarily a crime of moral turpitude.  In that regard, and upon our consideration of K.S.A. § 21-3412(a)(2), we find that a violation of that statute is a Category 3 offense.  

Hauk testified at length about the circumstances surrounding the offense.  In his version, he was defending himself, merely slapped the victim in self-defense, and the State “had nothing” on him.  He testified under cross-examination as follows:

Q. What happened [in the incident]?

A Ten guys tried to jump on me in a parking lot. I defended myself.

Q Why did they try to jump on you?

A I have no idea. They were real drunk.

Q Were you drunk at the time too?

 A No, I don't think so.

Q Any drugs? 

A No, I don't think so. I was with my girlfriend. I was out at Perkins. And these ten guys were drunk. Man, they was having a bachelor party. And they come up and they surrounded me. And, you know, I was taken into trial. But they come with a misdemeanor the day before trial, if you look at the transcripts. They gave me a Class B misdemeanor.

Q So there was no reason you got in a fight; it just happened?

A Well, no. I defended myself. When someone was going to attack me and they're surrounding me, that's what I did. I'm not a violent person, but I will defend myself. The State of Kansas, the only thing that, is compulsion. There is no self-defense law. Compulsion law, that's it. In other words, you've got to really either be able to completely avoid it or else you are hit, you're charged.

Q You were in Kansas at the time, right? 

A Absolutely. The only law there is, is a compulsion law. I mean, they just don't recognize self-defense whatsoever.

Q I mean, I guess you advised that you slapped the victim twice. The victim was found to have a subdural hematoma and required helicopter transportation to KC for further evaluation and treatment. The victim also suffered a broken jaw and several broken bones around his left eye and cheek; is that right?

A I don't know. He got on the stand. He never even -- all that, is what they said. But when he got on the stand, he testified he didn't even know who I was, never seen me before in his life.

Q Did you not commit this or did you commit it? 

A No, I hit him, yeah, I slapped him.

Q But not to this extent? 

A Yeah. They didn't have no records to back none of that up. They didn't even -- they went to take it to trial and they had nothing. That's why I pled to a misdemeanor, Class B misdemeanor, not a Class A, a Class B misdemeanor. The State of Kansas, they gave me time served, a whole six months in the county jail, tops. 

Q But you did commit the crime? 

A I did commit a misdemeanor battery, yes. That right there, the way they make it sound, like I sent this guy on an emergency flight. This guy was so drunk he was about to pass out anywhere, you know.[
]
The injuries referred to by counsel for the Office were not set out in the official record of the case provided to us by the Office,
 but in a summary of Hauk’s prior criminal record prepared as part of a presentence report for Hauk’s 2004 federal conviction.
  The latter report, although part of a certified court record, is necessarily hearsay because it reports the events or records of another court proceeding.  Hauk did not challenge the hearsay aspect of the federal court record, but he did contest the underlying accusation, i.e., the injuries suffered by the victim.  Because of 
the hearsay aspect, we do not find sufficient evidence that the related factual circumstances of this offense showed it to be a crime involving moral turpitude. 
II.  Discretionary Factors

As we find above, Hauk’s convictions for drug sales, attempted sales, and possession of a large quantity of drugs to involve moral turpitude.  However, our inquiry does not stop there.  Section 324.523 provides that the Office – and now this Commission – “may” refuse to grant the application for one of the grounds set out above.  “May” means an option, not a mandate.
  The appeal vests in this Commission the same degree of discretion as the Office, and we need not exercise it in the same way.
  

Our discretion is guided by our awareness that both the General Assembly, through its enactment of § 314.200
 and § 324.029, and the courts, through their appellate decisions,
 have established a public policy allowing felons the opportunity to show sufficient rehabilitation for occupational and professional licensing.  Yet we also realize that the General Assembly and courts have established a public policy that emphasizes government licensing of occupations and professions as the best way to protect and assure the public that the people licensed are qualified and honest.
  


Section 324.029 provides:

Except as otherwise specifically provided by law, no license for any occupation or profession shall be denied solely on the grounds that an applicant has been previously convicted of a felony.

For guidance on how we should exercise our discretion, we look to the provisions of § 314.200,
  which provides that in addition to the conviction, we:

shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the applicant seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant’s character.

Hauk was convicted five times for drug-related crimes.  Four of those convictions were for the sale, attempted sale, or possession of a sufficient quantity of drugs to statutorily infer intent to sell.  As Hauk himself admitted, until his last release from prison in 2010, he had never spent more than a year not incarcerated since 1992.  And, judging from his multiple drug-related convictions, his prior vocation could accurately be described as a drug dealer.


But that was Hauk’s prior life.  He learned tattooing while incarcerated and had been working in an apprenticeship program in that trade, he said he has stayed clean since his release from prison in 2010, his boss said he showed up for work every day and had stayed on the job longer than others.

However, more is required than simply staying clean.  An applicant claiming rehabilitation should acknowledge guilt and embrace a new moral code.
  Hauk did acknowledge his guilt as to his drug offenses and the battery conviction.

Hauk confessed his past drug addiction.  He also acknowledged that what is required for a person in his circumstance is to commit to a program of recovery.  He sees his work as a part of that program, a distinct departure from his time as a drug addict and dealer—a time in his life when he never had gainful, legal employment.


The “new moral code” requirement is not formulaic, but is judged in the process of our findings of fact.  Hauk is “staying clean” out of a desire to do so.  To this end, he spoke of a very strong incentive—he remains under supervised release until August 2014.  Among the terms of that supervised release are that he not only not use controlled substances, but that he submit to periodic drug testing.  Something else Hauk said at the hearing sheds light on the moral code issue.  Hauk stated that he changed in that he “got tired of going to jail.” At its core, the adoption of a new moral code is the exclusion of conduct.  Hauk’s conclusion that jail is the natural result of criminal conduct is cogent evidence of a desire to change, just as for some, a new moral code is the result of religion, addiction recovery, or the reflection of a life misspent.  Hauk acknowledged that his past criminal conduct was wrong.

We are mindful that Hauk’s rehabilitation could be facilitated were we to grant him a license and, as he warns us in his post-hearing brief, “[l]osing this job alone, without any wrong doing on my part, could possibly send me back to prison.”  The primary purpose of professional licensing is not to benefit the licensee, but to protect the public,
 and “the license granted places the seal of the state’s approval upon the licen[see.]”
  That seal of approval says little of a person’s character prior to any violation of the laws and regulations that govern a profession.  The question, then, turns on this—is the licensee a person qualified to perform the licensed service and, if so, what risk is the licensee to the public?  The Office suggests that, once he completes his supervised release, he might be a more suitable candidate for licensure.  Without committing to that date (as opposed to either an earlier or a later date), we have agreed with that logic.

We see Hauk as walking on the road to recovery.  The Office denied Hauk’s license because of his prior criminal conduct, but did not show a relation between that conduct and the profession for which he was trained, and here seeks licensure.  To the extent that Hauk’s drug use and dealing may continue to be a threat to the public, the intense supervision he is under will serve as sufficient protection.  If Hauk’s drug use is a primary concern, then the Office ought to subject licensees to a drug monitoring program.  Such an action, however, would be absurd.  In this case, on the facts presented, we exercise our discretion and grant Hauk’s application for licensure.

Summary

We grant Hauk a tattooist license.

SO ORDERED on December 5, 2012.


__________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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� Tr. 25-27.


� Ex. 11.


� Ex. 6, p. 16.


�S.J.V. ex rel. Blank v. Voshage, 860 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Mo. App., E.D. 1993).  


�State Bd. of Registration for Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., W.D. 1974).


	�RSMo 2000.


	�Finch, 514 S.W.2d at 616. 


�State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933); Lane v. State Comm. of Psychologists, 954 S.W.2d 23, 25 (Mo. App., E.D. 1997).  


	�RSMo 2000.


	�Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).


� Tr. 30.


	�Lane v. State Comm. of Psychologists, 954 S.W.2d 23, 25 (Mo. App., E.D. 1997).  


	�State ex rel. Lentine v. Sate Bd. of Health, 65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).


� It is worth noting that the United States’ war on drugs is widely recognized as ineffective.  See, e.g., State v. Poling, 531 S.E.2d 678, 689 n.4 (W. Va. 2000) (war on drugs is a failed policy); Jordan v. State, 562 So.2d 820, 823-24 (Fla. Ct. App.1990) (“warehousing” of young drug offender for 30 years fails to accomplish goals of war on drugs). We recognize the harm a drug-impaired practitioner could do, but we decline to infer that a licensee’s past drug use is a determining factor in denying licensure.
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